# **Public Document Pack**



Dear Councillor,

# CENTRAL LANCASHIRE STRATEGIC PLANNING JOINT ADVISORY COMMITTEE - TUESDAY, 28TH JANUARY, 2020

The next meeting of the Central Lancashire Strategic Planning Joint Advisory Committee is to be held on Tuesday, 28th January, 2020 in the Cross Room, Civic Centre, Leyland commencing <u>at 6.30 pm</u>.

The agenda and accompanying reports for consideration at the meeting are enclosed.

The agenda papers are being sent to both appointed and substitute Members. Any appointed Member who cannot attend on Tuesday, 28 January 2020 is asked to first contact their substitute to see if he or she can attend instead. Then please contact Charlotte Lynch either by telephone or email at the address below to give their apology with an indication of whether the substitute Member will attend.

Yours sincerely

Gary Hall INTERIM CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Charlotte Lynch Democratic and Member Services Officer E-mail: clynch@southrible.gov.uk Tel: (01772) 625563



# CENTRAL LANCASHIRE STRATEGIC PLANNING JOINT ADVISORY COMMITTEE

# AGENDA

- 1. Appointment of Chair for the Meeting
- 2. <u>Welcome and Introductions</u>
- 3. Apologies for Absence
- 4. Notification of any Substitute Members (if any)
- 5. **Declarations of Interest**

#### 6. Minutes of the Last Meeting (Pages 3 - 8)

Held on Monday, 28 October 2019 at Preston City Council, to be signed as a correct record.

#### 7. <u>Central Lancashire Local Plan Update</u> (Pages 9 - 12)

Report of the Central Lancashire Local Plan Co-ordinator attached.

#### 8. Draft Revised Central Lancashire Local Development Scheme (Pages 13 - 22)

Report of the Central Lancashire Local Plan Co-ordinator attached.

# 9. <u>Consultation of the Revised Joint Memorandum of Understanding</u> (Pages 23 - 50)

Report of the Director of Early Intervention and Support (Chorley Council) attached.

#### 10. Any Other Business

#### 11. Date and venue of the next meeting

The next meeting of the Central Lancashire Strategic Planning Joint Advisory Committee will be held at Chorley Council on Tuesday, 24 March 2020 at 6.30pm.

# **Central Lancashire Strategic Planning Joint Advisory Committee**

# Central Lancashire Strategic Planning Joint Advisory Committee 28 October 2019

# Present:

Councillor A Bradley Councillor M Boardman Councillor A Morwood Councillor P Moss Councillor M Donoghue Councillor B Evans Councillor C Tomlinson County Councillor M Green County Councillor Riggott

- Chorley Council
- Chorley Council
- Chorley Council
- Preston City Council
- South Ribble Borough Council
- South Ribble Borough Council
- South Ribble Borough Council
- Lancashire County Council
- Lancashire County Council

## Also in attendance:

Officers:

| Mr T Wiggans           | <ul> <li>Central Lancashire Planning Policy<br/>Officer</li> </ul>                       |
|------------------------|--|
| Ms C Williams          | <ul> <li>Central Lancashire Local Plan Co-<br/>Ordinator</li> </ul>                      |
| Ms Z Whiteside         | <ul> <li>Service Lead Spatial Planning<br/>(Chorley Council)</li> </ul>                  |
| Mr S Brown             | <ul> <li>Head of Development Management<br/>(South Ribble Borough Council)</li> </ul>    |
| Mr J Noad              | <ul> <li>Director of Planning and Property<br/>(South Ribble Borough Council)</li> </ul> |
| Mr M Hudson            | <ul> <li>Head of Planning (Lancashire<br/>County Council)</li> </ul>                     |
| Mr C Hayward           | <ul> <li>Director of Development (Preston<br/>City Council)</li> </ul>                   |
| Mr C Blackburn         | <ul> <li>Planning Policy Team Leader<br/>(Preston City Council)</li> </ul>               |
| Miss L Bilsborrow      | <ul> <li>Member Services Officer (Preston<br/>City Council)</li> </ul>                   |
| County Councillor Barr | ie Yates (Lancashire County Council) and   |

# Apologies: County Councillor Barrie Yates (Lancashire County Council) and Councillors Sue Whittam and John Potter (Preston City Council).

# 34. PART A (Open to Press and Public)

# 35. Appointment of Chair for the Meeting

**Resolved –** That Councillor Peter Moss be appointed as Chair for the meeting.

# 36. Welcome by the Chair and Introductions

The Chair, Councillor Peter Moss, welcomed everyone to the meeting.

# 37. Apologies for absence

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of County Councillor Barrie Yates (Lancashire County Council) and Councillors Sue Whittam and John Potter (Preston City Council).

# 38. Notification of Substitute Members (if any)

**Resolved** – That the appointment of County Councillor Aidy Riggott in substitution for County Councillor Barrie Yates, in accordance with Procedure Rule 4, be noted.

# **39. Declarations of Interests**

There were none.

# 40. Minutes of last meeting

The Director of Corporate Services submitted the minutes of a meeting of the Central Lancashire Strategic Planning Joint Advisory Committee held on 3 September 2019. Pursuant to minute number seven, apologies should also be noted as being given for County Councillor Barrie Yates (Lancashire County Council).

**Resolved** - That the minutes of the meeting of the Central Lancashire Strategic Planning Joint Advisory Committee held on 3 September 2019 be noted and signed as a correct record subject to the amendment detailed above.

# 41. Central Lancashire Local Plan Update

Carolyn Williams, Central Lancashire Local Plan Co-Ordinator, submitted a report on the Central Lancashire Local Plan.

The Central Lancashire Local Plan Issues and Options Consultation was due to commence on Monday 18 November 2019 and run until Friday 14 February 2020 following approval by the three councils. The Consultation would encourage the use of Citizen Space, an online consultation tool. A series of drop-in events had also been arranged in each Council area.

Another Call for Sites would also be open during the Issues and Options Consultation period and it would be the last opportunity to submit sites before the Preferred Options document was prepared. The Committee were informed that the current Local Plan timetable contained with the published Local Development Scheme (LDS) had slipped due to a number of factors including delays to the appointment of key roles. A revised work programme (LDS) was being prepared and would be presented at the next Joint Advisory Committee meeting in January 2020.

Other issues discussed and detailed in the report related to the following:-

- Developer Forum
- Strategic Housing and Employment Land Assessment (SHELAA)
- Integrated Assessment (IS) Scoping Report
- Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA)
- Housing Study
- Open Space and Playing Pitch Strategy
- Duty to Cooperate Discussions.

Resolved – That the report be noted.

# 42. Issues and Options Consultation Programme

Carolyn Williams, Central Lancashire Local Plan Co-Ordinator, submitted a report on the Issues and Options consultation programme.

The Committee were informed that all consultation material would be available to view online through the Central Lancashire Local Plan website with links being made available on each Councils website. There would be consultation events hosted by each Council so consultees could respond in an informed manner. The number and location of events had been agreed locally with each Council.

A short video was then shown to the Committee which detailed how the three Councils were working together to prepare a Joint Local Plan. The video was to be used by all three Councils to promote the consultation at events and would also be placed on the Council websites and Social Media (Facebook and Twitter) to attract as many responses as possible.

**Resolved** – That the report be noted.

# 43. Integrated Assessment Update

Tom Wiggans, Central Lancashire Planning Policy Officer, provided details on the outcome of the consultation on the Integrated Assessment (IA) Scoping Report, and the changes proposed to the IA Framework following the comments received.

The Committee were informed that an IA Scoping Report had been prepared to assess the Local Plan. The IA would be undertaken alongside the key stages of plan preparation. Consultation on the IA Scoping Report took place over an eight week period between 12 August and 7 October 2019. A total of 17 responses were received to this consultation. The responses received on the Scoping Report were in general supportive of the framework proposed and no issues with the approach had been identified.

**Resolved** – That the report be noted and the changes proposed be supported.

# 44. The future Homes Standard Consultation and Implications for Local Plan

Zoe Whiteside, Service Lead Spatial Planning (Chorley Council) provided a verbal update on The Future Homes Standard Consultation 2019 Consultation.

The Committee were advised that changes had been made to Part L (Conservation of Fuel and Power) and Part F (Ventilation) of the Building Regulations for new dwellings.

There was a national commitment to introduce a Future Homes standard for new build homes to be future-proofed with low carbon heating and world leading levels of energy efficiency. Those measures were regulated by Part L & Part 6 of Building Regulations and the consultation set out plans to increase standards for all new homes from 2020.

Currently the Planning and Energy Act 2008 allowed Local Planning Authorities to set and apply policies in local plans which required compliance with energy efficiency standard in new homes that exceeded the requirements of building regulations. The consultation proposed to bring that to an end, by taking all energy efficiency measures and standardising those as part of Building Regulations.

**Resolved** – That the update be noted.

# 45. Central Lancashire Core Strategy Monitoring

Zoe Whiteside, Service Lead Spatial Planning (Chorley Council), provided a report on the Core Strategy Annual Monitoring Report, covering the period from April 2018 to March 2019. Monitoring policy implementation had been achieved by reporting against a broad range of indicators taken from the Central Lancashire Core Strategy monitoring framework. Taken together, the indicators provided a comprehensive evidence base on which to inform policy implementation, delivery and review.

The Committee was informed that recent figures head identified that a higher proportion of the Working Age Population Qualified to NVQ level 4 or higher – significant increase in the last three years for Preston and all three Councils were above the North West average.

**Resolved** – That the report be noted.

# 46. Date and venue of next meeting

The next meeting of the Central Lancashire Strategic Joint Advisory Committee will be held at South Ribble Borough Council on Tuesday 28 January 2020 at 6.30 pm.

# 47. Exclusion of the Public and Press

**Resolved -** That the public be excluded from this meeting during consideration of the following items of business on the grounds that there is likely to be disclosure of exempt information which is described in the paragraphs of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 which are specified against the heading to each item, and that in all the circumstances of the case the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing it.

# 48. **PART B (Private and Confidential)**

# 49. Update on the Central Lancashire Housing Study and Revised MOU (Paragraph 3)

Zoe Whiteside, Service Lead Spatial Planning (Chorley Council) provided Members with an update on the key deadlines on the Central Lancashire Housing Study and Revised Memorandum of Understanding.

**Resolved** – That the report, Memorandum of Understanding and update be noted.

# 50. Update on the CityDeal (Paragraph 3)

Marcus Hudson, Head of Planning (Lancashire County Council) provided an update on the City Deal Projects – Year 6 – Quarter 2 – July-September 2019. Information was provided on projects completed during this quarter as well as details of projects which were still outstanding.

**Resolved** – That the update report be noted.

# Agenda Item 7



# **Central Lancashire**

| Report of   | Meeting   | Date       |
|---|---|------------|
| Central Lancashire Planning<br>Local Plan Coordinator | Central Lancashire Strategic Planning<br>Joint Advisory Committee | 28/01/2020 |

# **CENTRAL LANCASHIRE LOCAL PLAN UPDATE**

## **RECOMMENDATION(S)**

1. To note contents of this report

# **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF REPORT**

General update on the progress of the Local Plan.

| Confidential report        | Yes | No |
|----------------------------|-----|----|
| Please bold as appropriate |     |    |

## **REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)**

(If the recommendations are accepted)

2. None, for information only.

# ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED

3. None.

# LOCAL PLAN PROGRESS – ISSUES AND OPTIONS

- 4. The Central Lancashire Local Plan Issues and options consultation commenced on Monday the 18<sup>th</sup> November 2019 and will run until Friday 14<sup>th</sup> February. The consultation has included 40 drop-in sessions held across Central Lancashire. Officers have been available at these sessions to answer any questions people have had on the Local Plan and to help them respond to the consultation. The majority of events have been well attended and social media presence has been used to help highlight the meetings taking place.
- 5. We have received around 100 responses to the consultation, and 300 to the Youth Questionnaire. The Local Plan website has received over 4,000 unique hits since the start of the consultation, with Citizen Space being similar. As such it is expected that we will get a high level of response towards the end of the consultation period.

# FURTHER CALL FOR SITES

6. A further Call for Sites window has been open alongside the Issues and Options. We have received a number of suggestions to date which will be added to the Strategic Housing and

Employment Land Availability Assessment (SHELAA) database and the sites will be assessed alongside the existing sites as we move towards Preferred options.

#### DEVELOPER FORUM

7. The Developer Forum was held on the 5<sup>th</sup> December. 61 people attended this event, including officers from the three councils, LCC and those exhibiting/presenting on the evening. This first event introduced people to the concept of a single Local Plan for central Lancashire. The evening itself was focused on the economic development of the area and the commitment from the 3 councils and the LEP to continued growth in employment over the plan period.

#### **EVIDENCE DOCUMENTS**

#### STRATEGIC FLOOD RISK ASSESSMENT (SFRA)

- 8. JBA have been appointed to undertake the work on the SFRA and started work on this in 2019. There have been a number of delays to this work as reported previously, and JBA are working on a revised timetable for completion of the SFRA Level 1. The draft report is hoped to be ready by Spring 2020.
- 9. The results of this work will be available to feed into the development of the Preferred Options Document, specifically assessing the suggested sites.

#### HOUSING STUDY

10. The Housing Study report prepared by Consultants Iceni was published in November 2019. This report presents a suggested distribution of housing numbers across the 3 councils based on the Standard Method. This information was used to inform a revised Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) between the 3 Councils which has recently been out for consultation. Further updates to this study will be required during the preparation of the Local Plan to reflect any changes to the standard method numbers to ensure that when the plan is submitted it is based on the most up to date information.

#### CENTRAL LANCASHIRE TRANSPORT MASTERPLAN

11. LCC have had the first stage of work back from consultants Jacobs in the form of a baseline report and are in the process of reviewing this. This work will be developed further to start to look at the sites suggested to the councils and look at broad accessibility criteria to help shape a development strategy for specific locations going forward.

#### LOCAL PLAN VIABILITY

12. We propose to appoint consultants to undertake work on assessing viability of the Local Plan. Consultants will be appointed to undertake work on plan viability and Community Infrastructure Levy review. This will be a jointly commissioned piece of work and run concurrently with the Local Plan Timetable.

#### **CLIMATE CHANGE**

13. All 3 councils have declared a climate emergency for their area. The declarations made seek to meet the carbon reduction targets for 2050 by 2030. This is a challenging target to deliver and the 3 areas are looking to work together along with LCC, to look at how we can achieve this. There are areas in which the Local Plan can help deliver carbon reduction

targets, but the ask is wider than just planning and as such further work into this area is needed by all 3 Councils and LCC.

## PROGRAMME

14. As discussed at the last meeting, the Local Pan Timetable has now been reviewed and this is presented under the item on the Local Development Scheme.

## DUTY TO COOPERATE DICUSSIONS

15. To ensure that the we meet our duty to cooperate requirements we have now held meetings with Lancashire County Council, Lancashire NHS Trust and have meetings planned in with LCC transport over the coming months. We are also continuing to work closely with LCC on the preparation of a Transport Plan for Central Lancashire.

| Report Author    | Ext  | Date       | Doc ID |
|------------------|------|------------|--------|
| Carolyn Williams | 5305 | 16.01.2020 |        |

This page is intentionally left blank

# Agenda Item 8



**Central Lancashire** 

| Report of   | Meeting   | Date       |
|---|---|------------|
| Central Lancashire Planning<br>Local Plan Coordinator | Central Lancashire Strategic Planning<br>Joint Advisory Group | 28/01/2020 |

# DRAFT REVISED CENTRAL LANCASHIRE LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME (LDS)

## **RECOMMENDATION(S)**

1. To endorse the revised timetable for the preparation of the Local Plan

# **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF REPORT**

This report updates members of the reasons for the need to revise the timetable for the preparation of the Local Plan and attaches the draft local Development Scheme (LDS)

| Confidential report        | Yes | No |
|----------------------------|-----|----|
| Please bold as appropriate |     |    |

# **REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)**

(If the recommendations are accepted)

2. To agree to the new timetable for the preparation of the Local Plan

#### ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED

3. None.

# BACKGROUND

- 4. The Central Lancashire Local Plan is currently not in line with the published timetable in the Local Development Scheme, as such a review of the timetable is required to address the reasons for delay and propose a revised timetable which is deliverable. The Plan is currently around 6 months behind schedule, and this is expected to increase when factoring in the work needed to produce the preferred Options. The Preferred Options is currently planned for Spring 2020, however since the current consultation only closes on 14<sup>th</sup> February we will not meet that date.
- 5. The preparation of Local Plans is fluid and changes are made annually to ensure that the most up to date timetable is published to help inform those who wish to participate in the plan preparation process.

- 6. Changes to the timetable for the Issues and Options are a direct result of the delays to the recruitment of the Local Plan Coordinator, the sheer volume of sites submitted through the two call for sites exercises and the time needed to process these to inform the Issues and options as well as delays in key evidence base document such as the Strategic Flood Risk assessment which requires input from LCC and this has impacted on the progression of work on sites in particular, with this work now to be undertaken as we move towards Preferred Options.
- 7. As part of the work on Preferred Options (PO), work on viability and deliverability also needs to be commissioned and undertaken and the findings of this work fed into the decision-making process on potential sites. To factor in this work and the detailed assessment of all the sites as well, we expect the first draft of the Preferred Options to be ready early 2021 for approval by each council. Consultation on the PO's would then follow in late spring/early summer 2021, with Adoption delayed until December 2023. This is adding on around 18 months to the existing timetable.
- 8. The table below provides details of the key dates for the production of the local plan, appendix 1 provided the full LDS for review.

| Key Stage                     | Timescale                      |
|-------------------------------|--------------------------------|
| Stage one Issues and Options  | November 2019 to February 2020 |
| Consultation                  |                                |
| Stage two Preferred Options   | June 2021 to August 2021       |
| Consultation                  |                                |
| Stage three Publication Draft | October 2022 to December 2022  |
| Stage four Submission         | March 2023                     |
| Adoption                      | December 2023                  |

9. The draft LDS includes a risk assessment for the delivery of the Local Plan. This highlights issues which could affect the delivering and includes the retention of staff, political delay and changes to legislation which are outside the control of the authority.

**Finance/Resource Availability –** Finance and resource availability will be a significant challenge in the forthcoming years. This will need to be considered by the authorities and assessed on an annual basis. The risk of lack of finance has been mitigated by advance budgeting and joint working savings and the successful Government award of Planning Delivery Funding for two years. The Steering Group will also receive regular finance updates which will alert them in advance of any major budgetary or resource issues.

| Report Author    | Ext  | Date       | Doc ID |
|------------------|------|------------|--------|
| Carolyn Williams | 5305 | 08.01.2020 |        |



# **Central Lancashire**

# **Local Development Scheme**

# January 2020 – January 2023

Prepared jointly by Preston, South Ribble and Chorley Councils



South Ribble & Lancashire

# Central Lancashire Local Development Scheme January 2020 - January 2023

# Introduction

This document is a joint Local Development Scheme (LDS) prepared by Preston City Council, South Ribble Borough Council and Chorley Council to identify what the councils are going to do over the next three years to prepare new and revised planning policy which will form part of the Development Plan. The Development Plan can include Local Plans and Neighbourhood Plans.

Every local planning authority in England has to prepare a Local Plan, which includes all of the local planning policies for that area, and any planning applications have to be decided in line with it unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The purpose of the LDS is to identify new and revised planning policy the Councils are preparing to form the Local Plan. Under planning regulations, the Councils are required to regularly update this document and post it on their respective websites.

The LDS is produced jointly to reflect the joint working between the three authorities, specifically the existing Core Strategy adopted in 2012 and the commitment to undertake a review of the Core Strategy and three Local Plans, in order to produce a single Central Lancashire Local Plan. There will be allocation plans and maps prepared for each local authority area as part of this work.

The three Councils of Preston, South Ribble and Chorley have reached a consensus that the Joint Core Strategy and the individual local plans require a review of the policies and each has taken a formal decision to commence this work, working collaboratively to produce a single Plan. As this is a review, with commonalities across the three areas operating as a single housing market area and functioning economic area, it is not envisaged to be as comprehensive as starting the entire process from the beginning.

This document describes the programme for the review of the Local Plan which will include a comprehensive review of the existing development plan policies, refreshing the required evidence base, inviting a call for sites and producing a draft publication plan for consultation ahead of an examination in public for adoption.

Within the area, there is joint working with the Central Lancashire authorities (made up of Preston South Ribble and Chorley Councils). This work has included the adoption of a joint Central Lancashire Core Strategy in July 2012 as well as individual local plans containing development management policies which were adopted in 2015.

# **Purpose of the Document**

This document covers the three year period between Jan 2020 and Jan 2023. It supersedes the previous LDS's which have been operating separately in the three authorities.

The Local Development Scheme includes the following information:

Details of the high level programme for the undertaking of a review of the existing statutory development plan including the Central Lancashire Core Strategy, Chorley Local Plan, South Ribble Local Plan and Preston Local Plan.

Page 16

- Details of the evidence currently under commission and to be commissioned in order to inform the preparation of the new Local Plan.
- Information about the resources available, within Central Lancashire, for preparing the Local Plan.
- The risks associated with situations that might arise that could adversely impact on the achievement of the work programme set out in the LDS and how these risks are to be managed

# **Current Development Plan**

# **Central Lancashire Core Strategy**

The Central Lancashire Core Strategy adopted in July 2012, is the strategic document of the plan and covers all three Central Lancashire authority areas – Preston City, South Ribble Borough and Chorley. and. It sets the overall strategic vision for the area, including issues such as setting housing requirements and principles for infrastructure.

# Local Plan

Each Central Lancashire authority worked in partnership to produce a separate Local Plan, adopted in July 2015. The Local Plans set out development management policies, and allocate or protect land for specific uses, such as housing, employment or greenspace.

# Neighbourhood Plan

The Penwortham Neighbourhood Plan, Inner East Preston Neighbourhood Plan and the Broughton in Amounderness Neighbourhood Plan, prepared by the local neighbourhood forums with the support of the local councils, form part of the development plan. The Penwortham Neighbourhood Plan was made in March 2017, Inner east Neighbourhood plan was made in April 2015 and the Broughton in Amounderness neighbourhood Plan was made in October 2018. The per

# **Other Documents**

# **Statement of Community Involvement**

Chorley Council's Statement of Community Involvement was adopted in April 2019.

South Ribble Council's Statement of Community Involvement was adopted in December 2013

Preston City Councils' Statement of Community Involvement was adopted in December 2018

# **Supplementary Planning Documents**

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) offer local planning authorities the opportunity to add guidance on specific policy areas. The purpose of SPDs is to provide guidance on the interpretation and implementation of relevant planning policies, particularly those in the Central Lancashire Core Strategy. The following Central Lancashire SPDs have been adopted:

- Affordable Housing Oct 2012
- Controlling Re-Use of Employment Premises Oct 2012
- Rural Development Oct 2012
- Design Guide Oct 2012
- Access to Healthy Food\* Oct 2012
- Open Space, Sport and Recreation Sept 2013
- Biodiversity and Nature Conservation SPD July 2015
- Employment Skills SPD Sept 2017

\*The Access to Healthy Food SPD was adopted in October 2012, however, after consideration at the Chorley and South Ribble Local Plan Examinations, the SPD and proposed Local Plan policy with their references to a 400m exclusion zones was not considered robust and the SPD has been suspended (in Chorley and South Ribble) pending a review which will inform whether it is revised or withdrawn and reviewed alongside the requirements of the new Local Plan.

# Resources

The three councils are working as a partnership to undertake a review of the Local Plan and are jointly resourcing a central team to undertake the work. Additionally, a bid to MHCLG for Planning and Housing Delivery Grant was successful and will contribute to the resources required.

The following in-house resources have been established through the central team:

- 1 x Local Plan Coordinator (Planning Manager)
- 2 x Planning Policy Officers
- 1 x Technical Officer
- 1 x Local Plan Programme officer (to be appointed on submission of the Local Plan)

This team is complemented by the substantive posts at each respective council as required. In addition, joint working between the Central Lancashire teams is coordinated through a Central Lancashire officer working group. There is also a Joint Advisory Committee made up of members from the three Central Lancashire authorities and Lancashire County Council.

The Planning Policy teams can draw on additional resources from other teams within each council for expertise on areas such as:

- Housing
- Neighbourhood Management
- Environmental Health
- Economic Development
- Property Services
- Parks
- Corporate Policy

Lancashire County Council has responsibilities for:

- Transport and highways
- Minerals and waste
- Cross-boundary issues
- Health
- Education

Consultants will be engaged on specific projects where there is a lack of expertise or capacity inhouse, for example the production of evidence base studies such as the Open Space Sports and Recreational Assessment and Retail Study.

# **Risk Assessment of Delivering LDS Programme**

In preparing the LDS, the main risks to programme slippage are:

• **Staff capacity/Turnover/Absence** – There is a Central Team in Place to oversee the development of the Plan with support from the home teams, this allows us to reduce the risk of staff

Page 19

being in post to deliver the Local Plan. Should there be a loss of staff due to sickness or turnover, home team staff can be utilised to keep the project on track along with support from consultants as necessary until staff return or are replaced.

• **Political Delay** – The potential for delays due to the political decision-making process is increased by the requirement for joint/aligned documents to be approved by the relevant decision-making structure of each Central Lancashire authority. This has been mitigated by involving Members from all three authorities in a Joint Advisory Committee informed by member working groups in each district authority enabling Members to be fully involved at an early stage.

• Joint Working – Although there are considerable benefits in joint working, there are risks in terms of programming work and political decision making. The three authorities are minimising this risk through a memorandum of understanding. There is also a Steering Group where the planning leads from each of the 3 councils, the central team and LCC meet regularly to discuss the development of the plan and any ongoing issues.

• **'Soundness' of Local Plan –** Joint and independent working, this risk will be minimised by liaising closely with relevant partners and agencies, neighbouring authorities and having regard to the PAS soundness toolkit and Local Plan Route Mapper and procedural implications this may have.

• **Changing Legislation** – The risk of changing legislation during the preparation of the Local Plan is a challenge. This impact will be minimised by attending events, liaising with the relevant Government department, keeping up-to-date with new policy and legislation and assessing how this may impact on the Local Plan. This is largely out of the authority's control.

• Finance/Resource Availability – Finance and resource availability will be a significant challenge in the forthcoming years. This will need to be considered by the authorities and assessed on an annual basis. The risk of lack of finance has been mitigated by advance budgeting and joint working savings and the successful Government award of Planning Delivery Funding for two years. The Steering Group will also receive regular finance updates which will alert them in advance of any major budgetary or resource issues.

# Programme for Review of Central Lancashire Local Plan

# Table of Key Stages of Local Plan Preparation

| Key Stage   | Description   | Timescale   |
|---|---|---|
| Stage One<br>Issues and Options<br>(Regulation 18-<br>statutory Consultation) | Consultation process involving<br>engagement of all stakeholders,<br>statutory (UU, EA, HE etc.) and non-<br>statutory including public bodies,<br>members of the public, developers etc.<br>This will include publication of the initial<br>tranche of sites suggested for<br>development.   | Winter 2019<br>Consultation Period<br>November 2019 – February<br>2020          |
| Stage two<br>Preferred Options<br>(Regulation 18)                             | Following Issues and Options<br>Consultation, further detailed<br>consideration of the sites will be<br>undertaken looking at consultation<br>responses and review of existing<br>policies and drafting of the new Local<br>Plan policies will be undertaken.<br>This will conclude with a 'Preferred<br>Options' draft Local Plan being<br>published for consultation. | Expected Spring/<br>summer2021<br>Consultation Period<br>June 2021- August 2021 |
| Stage Three<br>Publication Draft<br>(Regulation 19)                           | The new draft Local Plan, the Integrated<br>Appraisal and statement of consultation<br>along with any topic papers  | Expected Autumn 2022.<br>Consultation Period<br>October 2022 – Dec 2022         |
| Stage four<br>Submission Stage<br>(Regulation 22)                             | Collation of Representations to the<br>Publication Draft Local Plan and<br>submission to the Planning Inspectorate<br>ahead of the examination in public.   | Submission to the Planning<br>Inspectorate expected<br>March 2023               |
| Adoption  | This will follow the examination in public<br>which is expected to last between 6 and<br>12 months. The length of time depends<br>on the representations made and the<br>extent to which the Inspector requires<br>further work to be undertaken and/or<br>modifications to the draft plan.   | November/ December 2023   |

# Evidence to support this Review

- Retail & Leisure Study
- Open Space, Sport and Recreational Assessment
- Central Lancashire Highways & Transport Strategy (to Include Walking and Cycling) (led by LCC and to commence in 2020)
- Local Plan Viability Assessment (to start in 2020)
- Employment Land Study
- Flood Risk/Drainage (SFRA level 1 expected s[ring 2020)
- Transport Study
- Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Accommodation Assessment
- Central Lancashire Housing Study
- Integrated Appraisal Scoping Report
- Preston City Transport Study

# **Monitoring and Review**

Each authority monitors the delivery of the Local Plan including policy achievement, targets and milestones such as housing land availability and housing delivery. The annual monitoring reports review document preparation progress over the preceding year compared to the targets and milestones set out by the authorities in the LDS.

The latest monitoring reports for each of the councils can be viewed on the Planning Policy pages on each of the authorities' websites:

#### Preston

https://www.preston.gov.uk/article/1050/Preston-s-Local-Plan-

#### South Ribble

http://www.southribble.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2017%20South%20Ribble%20Monitoring%20Rep ort.pdf

#### Chorley

https://www.southribble.gov.uk/content/planning-monitoring-and-evidence-1

# Agenda Item 9



# Report ofMeetingDateDirector of Early Intervention and<br/>Support, Chorley CouncilCentral Lancashire Strategic Planning<br/>Joint Advisory Committee28 January 2020

# CONSULTATION OF THE REVISED JOINT MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

## PURPOSE OF REPORT

1. To update Members on the consultation responses and officers responses to the revised Joint Memorandum of Understanding (MOU).

#### **RECOMMENDATION(S)**

2. That the report be noted.

# EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF REPORT

| Confidential report        | Yes | No |
|----------------------------|-----|----|
| Please bold as appropriate |     |    |

#### BACKGROUND

- 3. The first MOU for Central Lancashire was prepared and adopted in 2017 following the publication of new housing evidence, namely the Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA). The SHMA produced a housing need and distribution which reflected the existing distribution of housing as specified within policy 4 of the Central Lancashire Core Strategy 2012. Further, as the aggregated annual housing need identified within the SHMA exceeded the figure within policy 4, it was appropriate that the three councils commit to continuing the annual housing distribution of 417, 417 and 507 for Chorley, South Ribble and Preston Councils respectively.
- 4. The introduction of the Standard Housing Method for Local Housing Need by the government has changed how the annual housing requirement is to be calculated.
- 5. Following the publication of the Iceni Central Lancashire Housing Study:
  - A Council decision was taken by Chorley Council on 19th November 2019 to seek approval to adopt a revised joint Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) which will inform planmaking and planning decisions across Central Lancashire.

It was recommended that the principles of the enclosed revised MOU are approved and that final approval of the revised MOU (minor none material changes) be delegated to the Deputy Chief Executive/Director of Early Intervention in consultation with the Executive Member for Public Sector Reform and Economic Development, and that the Council adopts the MOU upon formal approval by all three councils (in accordance with their respective scheme of delegation) and provisions be implemented for plan-making and decisionmaking purposes.

- For South Ribble Borough Council, the MOU went to Full Council on 27 November 2019. It was recommended:
  - 1. That the decision whether to approve the revised MOU be delegated to the Director of Planning and Property in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Planning, Regeneration and City Deal following completion and consideration of a detailed responses report.
  - 2. That if approved, the Council will formally adopt the MOU upon formal approval by all three Central Lancashire Councils.
- For Preston City Council the MOU was scheduled to go to 19 December 2019 Council but was withdrawn. The MOU will go to 27th February 2020 for approval.

## JOINT MEMORANDUM OF CONSULTATION AND STATEMENT OF CONSULTATION

- 6. The relevant development plan policy relating to the supply of housing in Central Lancashire was adopted in 2012, the Central Lancashire authorities proposed to apply the standard method formula to calculate the aggregate minimum number of homes needed across the area. This is in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and National Planning Practice Guidance.
- 7. The standard method housing requirement figure for the Central Lancashire equates to 1,026 per annum (provision of 18,268 dwellings over the period 2018 -2036), it is recognised this is a minimum figure.
- 8. This would be achieved by a **Joint Memorandum of Understanding** (MOU) and **Statement of Co-operation** (SOC) and when approved, the Councils will work together to monitor housing completions and five-year housing land supply positions against these requirements.
- 9. The three Councils intend to implement a distribution of housing based on robust evidence. The evidence contained within the Central Lancashire Housing Study produced by consultants lceni recommends that the most appropriate distribution of the minimum number of homes needed in the area is as follows, this will be reviewed as the new local plan emerges and the spatial development policies are prepared.

| Total                           | 100%  |
|---------------------------------|-------|
| Chorley Council                 | 27.5% |
| South Ribble Borough<br>Council | 32.5% |
| Preston City Council            | 40%   |

- 10. This results in a local housing need of 1,026 per annum comprising:
  - 410 homes per annum in Preston;
  - 334 homes per annum in South Ribble; and
  - 282 homes per annum in Chorley.

This is intended to provide an interim basis for agreeing how the HMA's housing needs might be distributed.

## MOU CONSULTATION

- 11. The Central Lancashire Authorities consulted on the revised Joint Memorandum of Understanding over a period of 7 weeks. The first consultation was between 4<sup>th</sup> November 2019 and 15th November 2019 (2 full calendar weeks, 10 working days). Feedback form this initial consultation suggested the consultation period was too short. These comments were taken on board. The consultation was re-opened between 9th December 2019 and 13th January 2020 (5 calendar weeks, 22 working days).
- 12. The following stakeholders were consulted for both consultations:

• Developers and agents (as registered on the Central Lancashire Developer Forum mailing list);

- All Parish Councils within Preston, South Ribble and Chorley;
- All Elected Members within Preston, South Ribble and Chorley;
- All County Councillors representing Preston, South Ribble and Chorley.
- 13. The consultation was also publicised on the Central Lancashire Planning Policy Team website and on the websites of the 3 Central Lancashire authorities.

#### **RESPONSES RECEIVED**

- 14. A total of 37 responses have been received to this consultation including members of the public, parish councils, councillors, neighbouring authorities, housebuilders, agents and organisations. 27 of these were received during the initial consultation, and 10 further responses were received during the 2<sup>nd</sup> consultation. In addition to this, three additional responses were also received during the 2<sup>nd</sup> consultation which provided additional or replacement comments to previous submissions. The full list of respondents is shown at Appendix 1.
- 15. Of the 37 responses received 5 generally supported the approach, whilst 32 put forward comments covering a number of key issues/themes, as shown at paragraph 16 of this report. Further analysis of the responses showed that 5 responses agreed with the proposed housing distribution, 22 responses disagreed, and the remaining 10 did not clearly specify either way. 18 responses disagreed with the adequacy of the consultation (e.g. length/methodology etc.), whilst 19 responses didn't clearly specify either way. 18 responses also raised concerns that the evidence base was not sufficiently robust to justify the proposed distribution, whilst 19 didn't clearly specify either way.
- 16. The key themes identified in the consultation are shown below. These issues are expanded upon in the Response Document at Paragraph 17 of this Report, with an Officer response to each issue raised.

#### • Failure to consult properly:

- The consultation fails to meet the Sedley principles (meaningful & fair);
- The length/period of consultation was inadequate;
- The scope of the consultation / number of people consulted was insufficient and unjustified; and
- The purpose / intention of the consultation was confused and unclear.

## Pre-determination of the outcome of consultation:

- Insufficient time was allowed for to consider the responses to the consultation before decisions to adopt the MOU were made at the Cabinet(s);

- Adoption of the MOU would conflict with the current stage of the Local Plan and would pre-determine the outcome of the Issues and Options consultation.

# • The soundness of the new Local Plan will be brought into question.

- Any new housing requirement should be set out in Local Plan policies and have been subject to examination, and sustainability appraisal. An "MOU" circumvents this approach and is not the correct procedure for decisions which will result in policy consequences. It is unlawful promulgation of policy (which ought to be within a DPD), through an unrecognized, non-statutory mechanism.

- An MOU is not the correct procedure for decisions which result in policy consequences and is therefore unlawful.

- PPG refers instead to a Statement of Common Ground (SOCG), which has to include certain elements.

• The housing need/requirement/distribution set out in the MOU is not in accordance with either an up to date Local Plan or the standard method.

- Exceptional circumstances to deviate from the standard method (the MOU is a deviation) have not been demonstrated, and it is therefore unlawful.

- The MOU cannot be used for measuring five year housing land supply, or the Housing Delivery Test.

## • Failure to establish a true housing "requirement"

- The MOU is only a partial review - there is a lack of robust evidence to justify the overall housing need for Central Lancashire, or to justify the re-distribution to/from each individual district.

- The Local housing need figure should be a "policy off" figure for each Council – not a "policy on" figure which has incorrectly considered policy constraints when assessing housing need (a local housing need figure must be derived without the application of any additional exercise of policy).

- The assumption that Central Lancs still operates as a single HMA needs to be revisited.

#### • The proposed housing distribution is imbalanced and unjustified.

- The identified housing need is too low & needs increasing - for Central Lancashire as a whole, and for the individual districts (Chorley in particular).

- It is contrary to the Core Strategy and national policy.

- The standard method for assessing local housing need only provides a minimum starting point in determining the number of homes needed in an area. The housing needs are greater than the standard method indicates.

- Consideration should be given to growth strategies and strategic infrastructure projects such as the City Deal, etc.

- A lower figure than the Core Strategy will stifle sustainable economic growth and does not align with the growth ambitions of the LEP & the City Deal etc.

- A lower figure will also render Policies 1 and 4 out of date, which will engage the tilted balance in favour of sustainable development for decision taking.

• The MOU does not adequately take into consideration key elements such as;

- Historic under-delivery;

- Meeting un-met need from other areas; affordable housing need (especially where it is most needed, e.g. Chorley); and

- Specialist housing such as homes for older people, etc.

- There is also a need to concurrently bring forward alternative avenues to home ownership, and

- Further evidence is needed in terms of the scale and geography of demand.

The Councils should not rely on the Pear Tree Lane appeal decision.
 Further, the more recent Chain House Lane appeal decision does not take precedence

- Further, the more recent Chain House Lane appeal decision does not take precedence over all other appeal decisions.

• Brownfield land has not been adequately considered.

• There are inaccuracies in the Iceni report.

# **RESPONSE DOCUMENT**

**17**. A summary of the Main Issues and Officers responses is shown below:

## Theme: Failure to consult properly:

## Issue 1: The consultation fails to meet the Sedley principles (meaningful & fair).

It is established law that where consultation takes place upon documentation which will inform administrative decisions, then such consultation must be both meaningful and fair. The Sedley principles established that:

- First, that consultation must be at a time when proposals are still at a formative stage.

- Second, that the proposer must give sufficient reasons for any proposal to permit of intelligent consideration and response.

- Third, ... that adequate time must be given for consideration and response and,

- Fourth, that the product of consultation must be conscientiously taken into account in finalising any statutory proposals.

The MOU approach would fail all 4 of the Sedley principles.

#### Officer response to the above issue:

The consultation exercise undertaken is considered to have been proportionate and adequate for the purposes intended by the three councils. It was both meaningful and fair, and it is considered that all 4 of the Sedley principles have been met. See also response to 2 below.

#### 2. The length/period of consultation was inadequate.

The MOU will introduce a fundamental change to the adopted development plan and the short time that was given to consider and respond (including reviewing the evidence to support it - i.e. the Iceni Report) was wholly inadequate.

[Should be a minimum (uninterrupted?) period of 4 weeks? / 6 weeks? / 12 weeks? .. all suggested].

The extended period of consultation also ran over the Christmas period, and a general election was also held in December.

#### Officer response:

There is no statutory requirement to consult on the proposed content of a MOU.

Consultation on the proposed housing distribution took place between 1st November 2019 and 15th November 2019. Feedback from this consultation suggested the initial consultation period was too short. This was taken on board, and the consultation was re-opened between 9th December 2019 and 13th January 2020.

This is considered a reasonable approach given the 3 authorities are seeking an interim position in terms of housing land supply prior to adoption of the new Local Plan.

The length / period of consultation is therefore considered to be adequate and reasonable.

# 3. <u>The scope of the consultation / number of people consulted was insufficient and unjustified.</u>

The consultation was highly selective, and only a very small number (35 organisations) were consulted.

## Officer response:

There is no statutory requirement to consult on the proposed content of a MOU, and the consultation was targeted at developers who had registered an active interest in the Central Lancashire Developer Forum (CLDF).

The bespoke CLDF database had previously been put together by contacting everyone on the generic master Central Lancashire consultation mailing list and inviting people to register on the CLDF mailing list.

In addition, Councillors (at District level, and at County level), Parish Councils, and Neighbouring Authorities were also consulted, and the consultation was publicised on the Central Lancashire website as well as the websites of the 3 Central Lancashire local authorities, and anyone could submit comments.

When the consultation period was re-opened on 9<sup>th</sup> December 2019, anyone who was subsequently added to the CLDF database was also consulted.

The scope of the consultation is therefore considered to have been sufficient and justified.

# 4. The purpose / intention of the consultation was confused and unclear.

The true motives and policy consequences of the consultation were not made clear, and the housing study evidence was pre-supposed to be "robust" without having been tested or consulted upon.

The previous MOU was not displayed on the website, nor the text of the proposed new MOU.

The consultation was only seeking comments on the proposed approach/distribution, and not the evidence, which was pre-supposed to be robust. Nor does the website draw the reader's attention to earlier versions of the Strategic Housing Market Assessment.

The consultation page of the website does not actually explain the policy consequences of the intended adoption of the distribution in the draft MoU or SoC (the actual intention / motive is to establish real policy consequences outside of the Local Plan process).

# Officer response:

The purpose of the consultation was clear. The consultation was intended to seek comments about the proposed housing distribution to be included in the proposed MOU - it was not a consultation seeking detailed comments on the Iceni report. It is not common practice to consult on evidence. The Iceni evidence was published concurrently as that evidence has informed the MOU and the proposals for the redistribution of housing across Central Lancashire. Local Planning Authorities do not routinely consult on evidence.

The news page of the website was updated in a timely fashion, and the previous MOU was also subsequently added to the website.

The primary purpose of the revised joint MOU is to arrive at an agreed percentage distribution of figures. The overall purpose and effect, in planning terms, of this revised joint MOU is clear. The Central Lancashire authorities have aggregated the minimum annual local housing need figure calculated using the standard method and redistributed this to reflect the most sustainable pattern of development in the sub-region, as well as to align with City Deal growth aspirations in Preston and South Ribble specifically.

Theme: Pre-determination of the outcome of consultation: Insufficient time was allowed for to consider the responses to the consultation before decisions to adopt the MOU were

made at the Cabinet(s). Adoption of the MOU would conflict with the current stage of the Local Plan and would pre-determine the outcome of the Issues and Options consultation.

5. <u>Insufficient time was allowed for to consider the responses to the consultation before</u> decisions to adopt the MOU were made at the Cabinet(s).

The MOU consultation closed on 15/11/19, yet Cabinet meetings were held at:

- Chorley Council on 19th November 2019,
- South Ribble Council on 27th November 2019, and
- Preston Council on 19th December 2019.

Before the Iceni report was considered at the 3 Council meetings it should have been finalised & amended where necessary, to take into consideration the findings of the consultation.

## Officer response:

In response to initial representations, the Councils subsequently agreed to extend the consultation to enable further representations. The MOU will be approved through the relevant delegation/ Full Council approval processes for each Council.

# 6. <u>Adoption of the MOU would conflict with the current stage of the Local Plan and pre-</u><u>determine the outcome of the Issues and Options consultation.</u>

The Iceni report is effectively still a draft because it is still being consulted on through the Issues and Options consultation, so the MOU cannot be adopted until after that consultation closes in Feb 2020. Adopting the MOU in advance of the closure of the I&O consultation on the foundation for the "approach" of the proposed housing distribution derived from it undermines the credibility of such consultation. Adopting new housing requirements outside the plan making process before the end of the Issues and Options consultation would conflict with the position set out in the Issues and Options and it pre-determines this aspect of the Local Plan review process.

# Officer response:

Adopting new interim housing requirements in an MOU outside the plan making process before the end of the I&O consultation does not conflict with the position set out in the I&O and does not pre-determine this aspect of the Local Plan review process. As preparation of the new Local Plan progresses, further assessments and other evidence may influence both the scale and distribution of housing development in the forthcoming Local Plan. These issues will thus be reviewed in due course and will be reflected in the new Local Plan. The housing requirement / need for the new Local Plan Period will therefore emerge as the plan progresses through the key stages and preferred policy options are developed and will be assessed at the Local Plan Examination.

The I&O consultation is a separate consultation to the MOU consultation, therefore the timescales for the I&O consultation are not material to this MOU consultation.

Theme: The soundness of the new Local Plan will be brought into question. Any new housing requirement should be set out in Local Plan policies and have been subject to examination, and sustainability appraisal. An MOU is not the correct procedure for decisions which result in policy consequences and is unlawful. PPG refers instead to a Statement of Common Ground (SOCG).

7. <u>The soundness of the new Local Plan will be brought into question. It is unlawful</u> promulgation of policy (which ought to be within a DPD), through an unrecognized, nonstatutory mechanism. Any new housing requirement should be set out in Local Plan policies and have been subject to examination, and sustainability appraisal. The MOU circumvents this approach. The MOU could have significant implications on the evidence base and overall soundness of the forthcoming Local Plan. The MoU effectively seeks to introduce a new interim housing requirement / strategic policy for the 3 authorities outside of the development plan process. There is no support in the Framework or Guidance for doing this, and such an approach is **unlawful**. To promulgate what should be a DPD, through a non-statutory route, is to unlawfully circumvent the statutory regime and has been repeatedly held to be unlawful, e.g.

R (Miller Homes) v Leeds CC [2014] EWHC 82

RWE v Milton Keynes [2013] EWHC 751 (Admin)

R (Abdul Wakil) v Hammersmith and Fulham LBC [2012] EWHC 1411(QB)

R (Howsmoor) v South Gloucestershire [2008] EWHC 262(Admin)

*R* (on the application of Houghton and Wyton PC) v Huntingdonshire DC [2013] EWHC 1476(Admin)

Westminster v Great Portland Estates [1985] AC 661

Any new housing requirement for the three authorities should be properly assessed through the Local Plan process & be set out in strategic policies, with the policies and evidence having been tested through rigorous **examination** and found sound by an Inspector.

Further, a **Sustainability Appraisal** would require the express consideration of **reasonable alternatives** (which have not been considered as part of the MOU).

[refer to paragraph 68-028 of the PPG]

Officer response:

National policy and guidance now requires the starting point for determining housing requirement to be the standard method. The MOU is an interim position, based on the standard method, and distributed in accordance with an up to date housing study (the Iceni report). Given the relatively recent introduction of the standard method for assessing housing need, and given the current Local Plan is over 5 years old. The MOU will be an interim material consideration, prior to adoption of new housing policies in the new Local Plan. The evidence contained within the Iceni report is considered robust justification for the proposed re-distribution.

This is not a "new" policy. The MoU simply updates the split provided in the existing one (and supported during recent planning appeal decisions) pending the progression of the Local Plan. The evidence base for the 2017 MoU has changed and it is appropriate to amend the figures. There have been no challenges put forward on the principle of the existing MoU. The MoU will not therefore introduce a new housing requirement / strategic policy for the 3 authorities outside of the development plan process. The Iceni study, which underpins the suggested distribution in the MOU, doesn't say that 1,026 is the local housing need or housing requirement. It says it is the minimum starting point, as per national policy and guidance.

The housing requirement for the new Local Plan Period will emerge as the plan progresses through the key stages and preferred policy options are developed. It is for the plan-making process in due course to consider/ test alternative housing requirement scenarios; and to assess whether a housing requirement in the new Local Plan should be above/ below the standard method. As preparation of the new Local Plan progresses, further assessment of land availability, urban capacity and other sources of supply, alongside other evidence may influence both the scale and distribution of housing development in the forthcoming Local Plan. These issues will thus be reviewed in due course.

The new Local Plan will consider reasonable alternatives and will be subject to sustainability appraisal and public examination before adoption.

# 8. <u>A MOU is not the correct procedure for decisions which will result in policy</u> <u>consequences and is therefore unlawful. PPG refers instead to a Statement of Common</u> <u>Ground (SOCG).</u>

PPG has not been followed. The approach of simply recording an agreement in a MoU is an approach no longer favoured in national guidance in PPG.

Further, a SOC (Statement of Co-operation) is not a term which is described anywhere in national planning policy or practice guidance.

Instead of an MOU, a SOCG (Statement of Common Ground) is advised in PPG.

# Officer response:

The NPPF is supportive of the preparation of joint local plans (NPPF Para 17). The adoption of the MOU will result in the application of a policy to redistribute the housing requirement across Central Lancashire. It is reasonable and appropriate for local authorities to work together in planmaking and in meeting the housing requirement across the Central Lancashire housing market.

Although MOU is no longer a term used in PPG, Planning authorities are subject to the Duty to Cooperate, and is expected to happen throughout the plan-making process. Councils are required to both develop and maintain Statements of Common Ground by Para 27 in the NPPF which makes reference to these being available throughout the plan-making process. The PPG states that these are expected to address the distribution of needs in the area as agreed through the plan-making process (PPG 61-005, Bullet f) and record agreements which have been reached. The proposed MOU will demonstrate effective and ongoing joint working consistent with Para 27 in the Framework.

In the recent Chain House Lane appeal decision [APP/F2360/W/19/3234070], the Inspector endorsed the use of the standard method as the minimum housing figure for Central Lancashire, and recognized the approach being taken in the MOU.

#### 9. A SOCG has to include certain elements.

The substantive elements to be contained within a SOCG includes;

- What each district's capacity actually is; and

- Evidence of the extent to which each authority has capacity to meet its own needs, and the extent of **unmet need** which can't be met within its area.

SOCG's are not intended to be simply a memorandum of what has been agreed, but rather are intended to contain specific matters which are expressly directed towards plan-making. A check list of what should be contained in a SOCG is set out which includes:

"e. ..., the housing requirements in any adopted and (if known) emerging strategic policies relevant to housing within the area covered by the statement;

f. distribution of needs in the area as agreed through the plan-making process, or the process for agreeing the distribution of need (including unmet need) across the area;

g. a record of where agreements have (or have not) been reached on key strategic matters, including the process for reaching agreements on these;"

PPG states: "What information will a statement of common ground be expected to contain about the distribution of identified development needs?

When authorities are in a position to detail the distribution of identified needs in the defined area, the statement will be expected to set out information on:

a. the capacity within the strategic policy-making authority area(s) covered by the statement to meet their own identified needs;

b. the extent of any unmet need within the strategic policy-making authority area(s); and

c. agreements (or disagreements) between strategic policy-making authorities about the extent to which these unmet needs are capable of being redistributed within the wider area covered by the statement."

[refer to PPG Paragraph: 011 Reference ID: 61-011-20190315]

# Officer response:

The MOU is not a Statement of Common Ground, the 3 Councils will look to prepare a Statement of Common Ground when the evidence has been finalised, and any agreements have been formalised. Any SOCG in respect of this would also need the signatory of Lancashire County Council.

Theme: The housing need/requirement/distribution set out in the MOU is not in accordance with either an up to date Local Plan <u>or</u> the standard method. Exceptional circumstances to deviate from the standard method have not been demonstrated, and it is unlawful. The MOU cannot be used for measuring five year housing land supply, or the Housing Delivery Test.

## 10. <u>The housing need/requirement/distribution set out in the MOU is not in accordance</u> with either an up to date Local Plan or the standard method. Exceptional circumstances to deviate from the standard method (the MOU is a deviation) have not been demonstrated, and it is therefore unlawful.

There is not sufficient information put forward within the Study to justify the split and deviation from the standard method for Chorley. Exceptional circumstances justifying a departure from standard method can only be applied through the Local Plan process. Any departure from the Local Plan or standard method needs to demonstrate exceptional circumstances. These have not been demonstrated. The figures/distribution as set out in the MOU are therefore unlawful.

The distribution would be a deviation from the adopted Core Strategy; the existing MOU (which is based on the 2017 SHMA & retains the Core Strategy distribution); AND from the Standard Method. It would be a deviation from the standard methodology in each of the three individual districts (in Chorley in particular, which would have significantly lower figures than the minimum need using the standard method). For this to be justified, exceptional circumstances must be demonstrated.

Any deviation (either from the development plan, or from the standard method) must be justified as part of the Local Plan examination process and needs to be subject to examination and sustainability appraisal and be found sound. The distribution as set out in the MOU is not being adopted through the plan making process / examination, nor have exceptional circumstances been demonstrated, so the MOU is fundamentally flawed. It is not appropriate to determine the spatial distribution of housing need and create housing requirements at this point in time as there is a clear need to provide robust evidence to support the intended requirement figures, and for this evidence to be rigorously tested at examination, following the Local Plan processes.

# Officer response:

Central Lancashire has an adopted Joint Core Strategy covering the Central Lancashire area, and is in the process of preparing a new Local Plan for the area. PPG 2a-013 is clear that where local housing needs assessment cover more than one area, in particular where strategic policies are being produced jointly – as is the case in Central Lancs – the housing need for the defined area should be at least the sum of the local housing need for each LPA within the area, and it

will be for the relevant strategic policy-making authority to distribute the total housing requirement which is then arrived at across the plan area.

Exceptional circumstances need to be demonstrated where authorities are deviating from use of the standard methodology in particular where this results in a lower housing need figure than identified using the standard method. This is not the case here, where Central Lancs housing need as assessed using the standard method is intended to form the basis of the MOU; and thus it is not necessary to demonstrate that exceptional circumstances exist.

Planning authorities are subject to the Duty to Cooperate and is expected to happen throughout the plan-making process. The NPPF is supportive of the preparation of joint local plans (NPPF Para 17). Councils are required to both develop and maintain Statements of Common Ground by Para 27 in the NPPF which makes reference to these being available throughout the plan-making process. The PPG states that these are expected to address the distribution of needs in the area as agreed through the plan-making process (PPG 61-005, Bullet f) and record agreements which have been reached. The proposed MOU will demonstrate effective and ongoing joint working consistent with Para 27 in the Framework.

The proposed distribution within the MOU is based on a reasonable set of factors, has been consulted upon, and is not significantly different to the current Core Strategy distribution.

The PPG [61-011, 61-012] provides specific provision for considering the distribution of housing need including through setting out that Statements of Common Ground ("SOGC") are expected to address the distribution of housing needs within an area.

The PPG [61-020] states that such SOCGs should be prepared and maintained on an ongoing basis. The PPG [2a-013] also sets out that in instances where:

"assessments may cover more than one area...the housing need for the defined area should at least be the sum of the local housing need for each local planning authority within the area".

The approach taken by the housing study to assess local housing need is therefore not an "alternative approach". It arrives at a figure of 1,026 homes for the study area using the standard method.

As per the PPG [2a-013], it is then for the relevant strategic policy making authorities to distribute the total housing requirement across the plan area. This distribution exercise has been undertaken by the housing study to arrive at a recommended distribution.

# 11. The figures in the MOU cannot be used for measuring five year housing land supply.

There is no provision in the Framework or Guidance for measuring five year housing land supply against a figure which is <u>neither</u> the adopted housing requirement (i.e. Core Strategy) <u>nor</u> the local housing need figure (i.e. standard method).

The factors which have led to the recommended distribution involve constraining the supply within one area because of factors such as green belt policy and directing those needs to another area. Such an approach is perfectly legitimate to promote and test within the confines of a Local Plan examination, but unless and until it becomes adopted policy it is not an appropriate basis for assessing 5 year land supply.

[Footnote 37 of the Framework explains that unless the housing requirement set out in the strategic policy has been reviewed and found not to require updating, local housing need will be used for assessing whether a five year supply of specific deliverable sites exists using the standard method set out in the PPG once the strategic policy is more than five years old.]

Officer response:

The three councils will measure the five year housing land supply collectively, applying the distribution of housing need as set out in the MOU, which is based on the standard housing method as required by national policy and guidance.

The Central Lancashire authorities have and continue to work collaboratively to develop and review strategic policies. There is an existing adopted Joint Core Strategy setting out housing requirements (consistent with Para 17). In applying NPPF Para 73 in assessing the five year housing land supply, it is therefore appropriate to adopt a consistent approach of looking first at the housing needs of Central Lancashire.

The Framework (see Para 3) should be read as a whole, as should Planning Practice Guidance. Para 26 in the Framework is clear that effective and ongoing cooperation between authorities delivers effective planning. Para 27 states that authorities should prepare and maintain statements of common ground documenting cross-boundary matters addressed and progress made, which the PPG clarifies includes on the distribution of development. NPPF Para 27 is clear that these should be made available throughout the plan-making process. The proposed approach is consistent to this. It is reasonable that the authorities collaborate in appraising the level and distribution of development.

An MOU agreeing the distribution of housing needs in Central Lancashire (in that case against the SHMA figures) has been in place since 2017, and the principle of this has been accepted at appeal as relevant in assessing five year housing land supply. The principles of a revised MOU taking account of the Iceni Housing Study and the consultation which has occurred have also been supported in principle by an appeal inspector. [Appeal Ref: APP/F2360/W/19/3234070. Land to the South of Chain House Lane, Whitestake, Preston]

There is no conflict of the approach with Para 73 or Footnote 37 in the Framework as the needs of Central Lancashire have been calculated using the standard method.

# 12. The Housing Delivery Test will not be measured against the figures in the MOU.

Similarly, the **Housing Delivery Test** for each authority would be measured against whichever is the lower of either the adopted housing requirement or the local housing need under the standard method, and NOT the figures set out in the draft MoU.

The Housing Delivery Test (HDT) Measurement Rule Book (July 2018) explains that HDT is calculated as a percentage of net homes delivered against whichever is lower of either the adopted housing requirement, OR the local housing need. It will NOT be measured against a figure that an authority has agreed to adopt outside of the plan-making process in a MOU.

# Officer response:

The three councils will measure the five year housing land supply collectively, applying the distribution of housing need as set out in the MOU, which is based on the standard housing method as required by national policy and guidance.

It is the view of the three LPAs that for the purposes of the HDT, Central Lancashire delivery should be considered as one area.

Theme: Failure to establish a true housing "requirement". There is a lack of robust evidence to justify the overall housing need for Central Lancashire, or to justify the redistribution to/from each individual district. The Local housing need figure should be a "policy off" figure for each Council – not a "policy on" figure (a local housing need figure must be derived without the application of any additional exercise of policy). The assumption that Central Lancs still operates as a single HMA also needs to be re-visited.

13. Failure to establish a true housing "requirement": The MOU relies on an un-tested, unjustified and insufficiently robust evidence base (the Iceni Housing Study); the MOU

# would therefore only be a partial review of housing need in the area, and does not establish a housing "requirement".

The MOU would only be a partial review of housing need in the area.

The standard method identifies a minimum annual "housing need" figure, it does not produce a housing "requirement". The housing need / distribution set out in the MOU is therefore unlawful.

The Iceni Housing Study / Evidence base is not robust enough to underpin the MOU.

It is inadequate to provide a robust evidence base from which to test overall housing requirement scenarios and distribution.

The MOU has only considered the Government's standard method for assessing housing need, and not whether this should be increased to consider for example City Deal, infrastructure improvements or the economic growth set out in the SHMA.

The MOU cannot be adopted until this is done.

Officer response:

The proposed MOU will provide an interim assessment of housing needs which the authorities acknowledge will need to be reviewed as plan-making progresses, including to take account of new/updated evidence.

The NPPF in Para 73 and Footnote 37, together with the Housing Supply and Delivery PPG, is clear that for development management purposes that where adopted strategic policies are more than five years' old (and have not been reviewed and found not to require updating), which is the case in Central Lancashire, that the five year housing land supply should be assessed against the local housing need using the standard method.

It is for the plan-making process, as it progresses, in due course to consider/ test alternative housing requirement scenarios; and to assess whether a housing requirement in the new Local Plan should be above/ below the standard method. In bringing together evidence through the plan-making process, the authorities recognise that they will need to further consider whether high housing provision should be made to support the economy, infrastructure delivery or affordable housing.

The proposed distribution is considered to take account of a range of factors including population, workforce and jobs distribution and strategic constraints including Green Belt. It is considered to be based on a reasonable set of criteria, and this has been supported in the recent Land at South of Chain House Lane, Whitestake appeal decision. [Appeal Ref: APP/F2360/W/19/3234070. Land to the South of Chain House Lane, Whitestake, Preston]

14. <u>The Local housing need figure should be a "policy off" figure for each Council – not a</u> "policy on" figure which has incorrectly considered policy constraints when assessing housing need (a local housing need figure must be derived without the application of any additional exercise of policy).

It is only once the full housing need has been established, that policy constraints such as Green belt should be applied to assess the capacity of each of the three boroughs.

The determination of housing need should not assess land availability, as this is a separate consideration as confirmed in the PPG (para 2a-001-20190220).

In determining the housing need it is not appropriate to consider the land availability.

A local housing need figure must be derived without the application of any additional exercise of policy, such as reducing it in order to take account of constraints such as Green Belt, since the assessment of a "policy on" scenario is the task of the Local Plan examination and not the individual Council or decision maker. The correct approach, where the adopted housing

requirement is more than five years old and has not been reviewed and found not to require updating, is to use the "policy off" standard method figure for each Council area and not another figure which is derived from the type of policy judgments which underpin the recommendations of the Iceni study.

The study does not refer to / take into consideration transport infrastructure / studies; nor does it take into consideration safeguarded land; nor does it identify where new homes will be built, or which are the best areas to be developed.

Paras 4.23 to 4.42 outline the approach taken to the consideration of significant development constraints and current urban capacity upon the distribution of housing need. However, it is not appropriate for the urban capacity to be calculated without considering significant constraints such as Flood Zone 3. The urban capacity therefore cannot be relied upon as a basis for the distribution of the housing requirement.

Sites within the current urban capacity i.e. brownfield sites are notoriously difficult to develop and are often significantly constrained. The report therefore fails to acknowledge that urban capacity can only provide one part of the overall supply. It is therefore not a sound approach to place too much reliance on the existing urban capacity. Rather, it is necessary to consider other sources of supply, such as greenfield and Green Belt sites. The Report fails to provide justification as to why Green Belt release has not been considered to ensure that a sufficient level of housing delivery across Central Lancashire is secured.

The urban capacity of the settlements, presence of constraints or historic planning strategies do not have a bearing on assessing the housing needs to be met in the context of a reviewed Plan. Rather, the inclusion clouds the judgement of meeting the need for housing as close as possible to where it is needed. (When inappropriate variables are removed from Table 4.12 of the Iceni report, the results are very different).

Table 4.12 should be revised to include weighting to each indicator. This would provide a more accurate reflection of housing distribution. Each indicator is relevant, however should be given proportionate weight according to its significance in determining the housing requirement distribution.

Given the national affordable housing crisis, the greatest weight should be attributed to affordable housing provision. Significant weight should also be attributed to the local housing need prior to re-distribution and the distributions of the population and workforce. The distribution should also acknowledge the importance of the location of past completions.

#### Officer response:

The authorities are working collaboratively to plan for the development needs of Central Lancashire. The local housing need has been assessed as 1,026 dpa across Central Lancashire, using the standard method. This is not a policy-on figure and takes no account of policy constraints/capacity.

National policies and guidance are clear that the distribution of the housing needs of Central Lancashire within the area are matters for the authorities to consider through the Duty to Cooperate, as took place in the development of the existing Core Strategy. As explained, the NPPF and PPG expect this to be set out in a Statement of Common Ground.

Para 2a-013 in the PPG confirms that where plans cover more than one area, as here, the area's local housing need is the sum of the need for each LPA, and it will be for the authorities to distribute this. Collectively the authorities are meeting Central Lancashire's housing need in full consistent with national policy.

The Iceni Study has brought together a range of considerations including the distribution of population, workforce and jobs, and strategic constraints in recommending a distribution of

homes. This does not represent the application of policy constraints to the area's housing need and has been considered after the area's (i.e. Central Lancs) housing need has been assessed.

The Councils do not accept that the base standard method figures for individual authorities necessarily provide an appropriate distribution of development, as they are influenced by historical demographic growth which has been influenced by historical planning policies, infrastructure constraints and housing delivery; which is not a fair reflection of relative need or sustainable distribution of development looking forwards.

As preparation of the new Local Plan progresses, further assessment of land availability including locations for development, safeguarded land, urban capacity and other sources of supply will progress; and alongside other evidence including transport studies and assessments may influence both the scale and distribution of housing development in the forthcoming Local Plan. These issues will thus continue to be considered as the preparation of the Local Plan progresses with further opportunities for consultees to input and comment.

# **15.** The "assumption" in the Housing Study that Central Lancashire is still a single Housing Market Area (HMA) needs to be questioned / re-visited.

The evidence within the Iceni report (including Table 3) raises questions as to whether the assumption about the area being a single housing market area (HMA) is correct. This needs to be re-visited. The data shows that Preston sits away from the other two local authorities and the relationship in respect of house prices between Preston and Chorley/South Ribble is actually relatively weak. The study should have reviewed the HMA in the first instance. The SHMA set out the methodology for defining its HMA, but as this was undertaken in 2017, it is now considerably out of date particularly in light of the changes to national planning policy and guidance. A review of the HMA is essential. A distribution based largely on the availability of housing land does not accurately and robustly reflect the need for housing across the three areas.

The assumption does not reflect how the Central Lancashire market operates, as shown in the review of the house price and migration data, and affordability ratios (e.g. the market and affordable housing needs in Chorley, including specific groups, are not met). Chorley's affordable housing need should be met in Chorley and redistributing it to Preston will not meet that need.

Further evidence will need to demonstrate the consideration given to house price differentials/data, migration flows, affordability, travel to work relationships, and existing and planned infrastructure pressures. This evidence should also highlight the importance of retaining an appreciation of locally-based needs which should take into account more qualitative factors, such as school catchment areas and the desires of people to remain close to families.

The SHMA was only published in 2017. If this is considered up to date enough to rely on in terms of establishing the HMA, then the SHMA should also be considered up to date enough in terms of the housing requirement / distribution that it identified (but the MOU proposes a requirement / distribution far below those set out in the SHMA).

There is a clear correlation between the distribution of the workforce and the distribution of the population. These indicators (as shown in Tables 4.1 and 4.2 of the Iceni report) are fundamental to assessing where new homes are required – as they provide a clear picture of where the bulk of the population, and the workforce are located.

## Officer response:

There has been no change in Planning Practice Guidance regarding how housing market areas are defined between the publication of the SHMA in 2017 and now (early 2020). The evidence base supporting the identification of the Central Lancs HMA is set out in Section 2 of the SHMA.

The SHMA considered national and regional research on housing market geographies, both of which supported the identification of a Central Lancs housing market. It considered housing price dynamics, migration and travel to work patterns finding that triangulation of the sources strongly supports placing Chorley, Preston and South Ribble within a common and unique Housing Market Area. Besides house prices, much of the detailed core local data considered in that report remains the most recent available.

Preston's urban area and the main urban areas in South Ribble (including Penwortham and Bamber Bridge) are in close proximity to one another, and there is clear and strong migration and commuting relationships between the three authorities. Average house price differentials are influenced by the mix of homes sold, which varies by area, and by urban/ rural distinctions. Prices by type across the three areas are relatively similar, as for instance Tables 5.1 and 5.2 in the Iceni Study show.

In contrast to the approach to defining housing markets, the PPG has revised the approach to be used in assessing local housing need through the introduction of the standard method. This constitutes a new and revised approach to calculating the overall need for housing. The 2017 SHMA does not therefore provide an appropriate basis for quantifying Central Lancashire's objectively assessed need for housing and the OAN figures in the 2017 SHMA are therefore out-of-date.

Theme: The proposed housing distribution is imbalanced and unjustified. The identified housing need is too low & needs increasing - for Central Lancashire as a whole, and for the individual districts (Chorley in particular). Consideration should be given to growth strategies and strategic infrastructure projects such as the City Deal, etc. A lower figure will stifle sustainable economic growth and does not align with the growth ambitions. It will also render Core Strategy Policies 1 and 4 out of date.

16. The proposed housing distribution is imbalanced and unjustified.

The rationale as to <u>why</u> the precise proportions have been attributed to each authority is not clear. There is a lack of weight given to some key factors, such as the delivery of affordable housing, which are currently underpinning the national housing crisis and there is no robust evidence to support the proposed distribution.

It is not clear from the evidence provided why the precise proportions that have been proposed are as they are. It is not clear for example why greater consideration should be given to the existing spatial strategy, the urban capacity or land not subject to national constraints over the evidence in relation to the local housing need identified for each authority or to the level of historic completions.

It is unclear why the Councils have not chosen to pursue a housing requirement more reflective of the delivery levels that they are capable of achieving, and to align with the regional growth strategies for the area and national commitment to delivering housing across England.

Officer response:

The approach adopted to the distribution has sought to balance a range of factors as set out in Para 4.45 of the Iceni Report. This takes account of factors considered relevant and justified by national planning policies in the NPPF. Paragraphs 4.46 – 4.49 set out the rationale for the proportion attributed to individual authorities.

The conclusions on the recommended distribution of housing within Central Lancashire for the purposes of the MOU have taken account of the distribution of jobs, population, and workforce and the relative affordability of the three areas are considered to support in particular sustainable patterns of development at the scale at which the issue is being considered. Nominal urban capacity and land subject to national constraints have also informed the distribution recommended in the Iceni Report.

Past delivery levels have been influenced by land availability and infrastructure constraints which have affected the level and pace/phasing of development in different areas, with for instance delivery of Buckshaw Village in particular leading to significant development in Chorley. This is clear in comparing the distribution of development over the 2009-14 period which fed into the standard method (Iceni Report Table 4.5), and clearly influences the distribution of need shown therein between the three authorities, as against the more recent distribution of development (Iceni Table 4.6). There is no clear planning reason as to why the appropriate distribution moving forwards should necessarily closely mirror development trends between 2009-14.

Further consideration of sustainable patterns and the distribution of development will be undertaken as the preparation of the local plan progresses, taking account of further evidence.

### 17. <u>The overall housing need figure for Central Lancashire is too low and is contrary to</u> the Core Strategy and national policy. The housing needs are greater than the standard method indicates (consideration should be given to growth strategies and strategic infrastructure projects such as the City Deal, etc.), and this is contrary to the Government's ambitions of boosting the supply of housing.

The MoU is seeking to re-distribute development contrary to that set out within the Core Strategy. A reduction in overall housing requirement across Central Lancashire (when compared to the Core Strategy requirement) does not align with a wider commitment to growth in the region and is contrary to national policy. The standard method for assessing local housing need only provides a minimum starting point in determining the number of homes needed in an area.

Utilising the standard method calculation, Chorley has the highest housing requirement (579dpa), followed by Preston (241dpa) and South Ribble (206dpa). It must therefore be questioned how it can be a justified approach to inverse the ranking for Chorley– awarding the authority the lowest housing requirement under the proposed distribution.

The standard method for assessing local housing need provides a minimum starting point in determining the number of homes needed in an area. It does not attempt to predict the impact that future government policies, changing economic circumstances or other factors might have on demographic behavior. Therefore, there will be circumstances where it is appropriate to consider whether actual housing need is higher than the standard method indicates. This will need to be assessed prior to, and separate from, considering how much of the overall need can be accommodated (and then translated into a housing requirement figure for the strategic policies in the plan). Circumstances where this may be appropriate include, but are not limited to situations where increases in housing need are likely to exceed past trends because of:

- growth strategies for the area that are likely to be deliverable, for example where funding is in place to promote and facilitate additional growth (e.g. Housing Deals);

- strategic infrastructure improvements that are likely to drive an increase in the homes needed locally; or

- an authority agreeing to take on unmet need from neighbouring authorities, as set out in a statement of common ground;

There may, occasionally, also be situations where previous levels of housing delivery in an area, or previous assessments of need (such as a recently produced Strategic Housing Market Assessment) are significantly greater than the outcome from the standard method. Authorities will need to take this into account when considering whether it is appropriate to plan for a higher level of need than the standard model suggests.

Firstly, there is a growth strategy for the area where funding is in place to promote and facilitate additional growth. "City Deal" is an agreement between the Government and four local partners; Lancashire County Council, Lancashire Enterprise Partnership, Preston City Council and South Ribble Borough Council. A total of £434m new investment will lead to the expansion and

improvement of the transport infrastructure in Preston and South Ribble at an unprecedented rate, enabling a forecast 20,000 new jobs and 17,420 new homes to be created over a 10 year period. The 17,420 dwellings over a 10 year period in South Ribble and Preston is significantly higher than the standard method and the draft MoU propose. Within this context, it is surprising that there is no reference to the City Deal in the draft Iceni report.

Secondly and linked to the City Deal there are several strategic roads and other infrastructure improvements, which are being delivered in the area that will drive an increase in the number of homes needed.

Thirdly, it is not known at this stage whether any unmet need from neighbouring authorities could be delivered in Central Lancashire. The draft Iceni report makes no reference to this having been considered.

Finally, there is a recent SHMA in Central Lancashire, which was only published two years ago and considers that the housing needs in the area are significantly greater than the outcome of the standard method. This is due in part to the economic growth in Chorley and South Ribble, which has not been considered in the draft Iceni report.

The local housing need figure shows a reduction from the Core Strategy of 1,341 to 1,026 (a 24% reduction). This is not contributing to the Government's aim of 'boosting the supply of housing', in fact it is planning for significantly less housing and is contrary to the Government's ambitions.

## Officer response:

The Core Strategy housing requirement figures set out in Core Strategy Policy 4 are out-of-date. They were based on the now revoked Regional Spatial Strategy for the North West (the RS). This was based on evidence of housing needs which was prepared in 2003, prior to the RS adoption in 2008. It does not provide a reliable basis against which to assess current or future housing needs.

The NPPF sets out that for plan-making, the strategic policies should be informed by a local housing need assessment conducted using the method in the PPG (NPPF Para 60); whilst Para 73 states that where the housing requirement in adopted strategic policies (i.e. in the Core Strategy) is more than 5 years old, five year housing land supply should be assessed against the local housing need.

The NPPF and PPG have been revised to replace the methodology for assessing an 'objectively assessed housing need' in the 2012 NPPF and associated 2014 PPG with the standard methodology, addressing Government's objectives of creating a simpler, quicker and more transparent means of identifying housing needs. This renders the assessment of OAN (i.e. the specific OAN figures) within the 2017 SHMA out-of-date and inconsistent with current national policy/guidance.

The PPG does set out circumstances in Para 2a-010 in which it might be appropriate to plan for higher levels of housing provision than the minimum figures generated by the standard method. These are however considerations for the plan-making process, not decision-making. For decision making, the PPG on Housing Supply and Delivery is clear that five year housing land supply should be assessed against the standard method. The authorities propose to do this, and the proposed housing requirement figures in the MOU are based on distributing the local housing need derived from the standard method.

As the plan-making process progresses, the authorities recognise that they will need to take account of future data releases and evidence, and engagement on what level of housing provision should be planned for in Central Lancashire. The outcomes of this may in time require the level or distribution of housing provision to be updated either through the revision of the MOU or the preparation of the new Local Plan.

Issues of unmet need from other authorities are also considerations which may need to be taken into account as the preparation of the new Local Plan progresses but are not relevant to the calculation of five year land supply for development management purposes. The Councils will continue to engage actively in discussions with authorities in neighbouring areas as appropriate through the plan-making process.

The standard method figures for individual authorities have been significantly influenced by the distribution of development over the 2009-14 period which influenced migration and demographic growth in the 2014-based Household Projections. This is clear from the analysis of housing completions in Section 4 of the Iceni Study. Planning on the basis of these figures would perpetuate the distribution of development seen over this five year period in which there were particular constraints to development in Preston and South Ribble which funding for major strategic infrastructure is now addressing. The more recent distribution of development in Central Lancashire (Iceni Table 4.6) has been notably different.

The Central Lancashire City Deal is clear that this was about accelerating the delivery of development in Preston and South Ribble which was planned for through the Central Lancashire Core Strategy. It established an Infrastructure Delivery Programme and Investment Fund to deliver the critical infrastructure required to enable the full development of significant housing and commercial development schemes. The City Deal did not suggest or indicate an acceptance of a higher level of housing need, it's focus was bringing forward delivery of the housing numbers in the Central Lancashire Core Strategy.

A review of the City Deal has been undertaken and it is clear that this has been a success in increasing the rate of housebuilding in Preston and South Ribble, through delivering the earlier provision of infrastructure to enable development, providing certainty and increasing market confidence. However, the cost of providing the significant infrastructure required have increased and it will be necessary to both extend the City Deal period and consider ambitious housing targets in order to ensure this infrastructure is fully funded.

Consideration of whether it is appropriate to plan for higher housing figures, or provide additional supply to facilitate delivery above minimum requirement figures (subject to market demand) are issues for the new Local Plan to consider, and are not considered relevant to the MOU and the assessment of five year housing land supply in advance of the adoption of a new plan.

18. A lower figure than the Core Strategy will stifle sustainable economic growth and does not align with the growth ambitions of the LEP and the City Deal & other strategic infrastructure projects, etc.

There should be some alignment between the ambitions of the LEP to increase the number of jobs and the level of housing growth set out in the Housing Study, and the infrastructure as part of the City Deal.

Without this alignment, a housing figure less than the current Core Strategy figure is likely to stifle future growth, rather than support it. To accept a housing requirement below that which was previously adopted, seems illogical and at odds with Central Lancashire's aspirations to be a driver of sustainable economic growth for the region.

#### Officer response:

The Government has removed the requirement to align evidence and strategies for homes and jobs, recognising that forecasting future economic performance was one of the most complex and disputed elements of determining an area's OAN. Following the approach outlined in the NPPF and PPG, it is not relevant to five year housing land supply calculations in advance of the adoption of a new local plan.

The City Deal is not part of the Development Plan; rather it assists in supporting investment into infrastructure delivery programme for Preston, South Ribble and Lancashire. It is not embodied

in policy, is not identified in the NPPF or Guidance as a consideration in assessing five year land supply in advance of the Local Plan adoption. The City Deal has undergone a mid-term review and the outcome of that will be considered through the new Local Plan.

The alignment of other evidence and strategies for housing and employment will also be considered through the plan-making process as further evidence is prepared. The LEP is for instance in the process of preparing a new Local Industrial Strategy, a Greater Lancashire Plan is to be prepared, and the authorities will take account of further evidence through the plan-making process as it progresses.

19. <u>The re-distribution figures for the districts (Chorley in particular) is too low and is</u> <u>contrary to both the Core Strategy AND the minimum number required (Chorley in</u> <u>particular) using the Standard Method. The housing needs are greater in the districts than</u> <u>the standard method indicates.</u>

The housing numbers for each district as a result of the proposed re-distribution in the MOU, are not the same as the minimum housing need set out in the standard method.

In particular, the figure for Chorley is significantly BELOW the minimum needed if using the standard method.

#### Officer response:

Central Lancashire has an adopted Joint Core Strategy covering the Central Lancashire area, and is in the process of preparing a new Local Plan for the area. PPG 2a-013 is clear that where local housing needs assessment cover more than one area, in particular where strategic policies are being produced jointly – as is the case in Central Lancs – the housing need for the defined area should be at least the sum of the local housing need for each LPA within the area, and it will be for the relevant strategic policy-making authority to distribute the total housing requirement which is then arrived at across the plan area. The PPG is clear that such a distribution should be agreed through the Duty to Cooperate and set out in a Statement of Common Ground, which is what the authorities are proposing.

The proposed housing distribution meets Central Lancashire's housing needs as assessed using the standard method for Central Lancashire as a whole and is considered to be consistent with national policy. There are considered to be based on the current evidence and a reasonable set of criteria.

The standard method figures for Chorley are influenced in particular by housing provision over a five year period (2009-14) which fed into the 2014-based Household Projections, which in turn was influenced by the economic recession and delivery of the Buckshaw Village strategic site; together with infrastructure constraints which inhibited housing delivery in Preston and South Ribble. As the Iceni Study shows, the distribution of development in more recent years has differed. The authorities do not consider that the standard method distribution is an appropriate and sustainable distribution of homes which should be replicated moving forwards.

## 20. A lower figure than the Core Strategy will render Policies 1 and 4 out of date, which will engage the tilted balance in favour of sustainable development for decision taking.

The draft MoU would render policies 1 and 4 of the Core Strategy out-of date. This means the tilted balance to the presumption in favour of sustainable development set out within paragraph 11 of the Framework would be engaged.

## Officer response:

No. The evidence shows that the Core Strategy provides a policy framework which is capable of meeting housing need in full based on the latest evidence. Whilst the housing requirement figures in Policy 4 are considered out-of-date, the authorities are able to maintain a 5 year

housing land supply against the latest evidence of need consistent with the framework set out in Para 73 in the NPPF.

Furthermore, the housing requirement figures set out in the MOU for each of the authorities are below that in the CLCS. By implication the housing need is capable of being met and five year land supply maintained in a way which is consistent with the spatial strategy in the CLCS. Policies 1 and 4 are not therefore considered out-of-date, and the presumption in NPPF Para 11 is not considered to be engaged on this basis.

Theme: The MOU does not adequately take into consideration key elements such as historic under-delivery; meeting un-met need from other areas; affordable housing need (especially where it is most needed, e.g. Chorley); and specialist housing such as homes for older people, etc. There is a need to concurrently bring forward alternative avenues to home ownership, and further evidence is needed in terms of the scale and geography of demand.

## 21. The MOU does not adequately take historic under-delivery into consideration.

There are historic under-delivery issues in Preston dating back to the old RSS period (from 2003), which has resulted in a substantial backlog. There is still a significant backlog that should be accounted for when setting the housing requirement target going forward. Whilst taking account of such shortfall is not a requirement when using the standard methodology, the suppressed household formation resulting from this under delivery will be reflected/ baked into the housing projections which inform the standard method, which is a further strong reason to support an uplift. Accordingly, it is clear that the housing need is actually considerably higher than that provided by the standard method.

## Officer response:

Historic under-delivery of housing and affects of this such as supressed household formation or constrained in-migration is captured within the affordability adjustment within the standard method as set out in the PPG (Paras 2a-006 and 2a-011) which sets out that it is therefore not a specific requirement to specifically address under delivery separately.

There is a historic under-delivery of 288 dwellings across Central Lancashire over the period from the start of the Core Strategy in 2010 to 2019. This is more than addressed in the affordability adjustment applied within the standard method (which increases the need by 125 dpa relative to the household projections, and equivalent for instance to 1250 dwellings over a 10 year period across Central Lancs).

## 22. The MOU is silent on identifying and meeting unmet need.

Central Lancashire's position on whether they will take any unmet housing need does not appear to be confirmed. It is a matter which needs to be considered and potentially taken into account when establishing the housing requirement figure for Central Lancashire.

Wyre Council, which adjoins Preston City Council to the north, has unmet housing needs that it was unable to accommodate in its own administrative boundaries. Paragraph 1.4.4 of the adopted Wyre Local Plan (February 2019) also confirms that Lancaster City Council have issues with unmet need.

#### Officer response:

Issues of unmet need are issues for the plan-making process, not the calculation of five year housing land supply in advance of the adoption of a new local plan. The authorities will continue to engage as appropriate with neighbouring authorities on such issues.

Wyre sits within a different housing market area, for the Fylde Coast, with Blackpool and Fylde. It adopted a Local Plan in Feb 2019 which includes a review mechanism in Policy LPR1 which

commits Wyre to an early partial review of the Plan commencing in 2019 with submission of the review for examination by early 2022 to address the shortfall against the identified OAN.

Policy LPR1 sets out that this early review will include considering updated evidence of housing need, a review of transport and highways issues, and the allocation of sites within Wyre to meet the full OAN taking this into account. The Central Lancashire authorities will continue to engage with Wyre through the Duty to Cooperate through the preparation process of the authorities' respective plans.

In respect of Lancaster, the emerging Local Plan (which is at a main modifications stage) proposes a housing requirement of 522 dpa against an objectively-assessed housing need of 650-700 dpa for a 2011-34 plan period. Lancaster's local housing need as assessed using the standard method is 411 dpa, and the Council's emerging Local Plan would meet this in full. The Central Lancashire authorities will continue to engage as appropriate on issues of unmet need with Lancaster CC as appropriate as the plan making process progresses.

The Central Lancashire authorities will also engage with other neighbouring authorities, such as those within Greater Manchester, as appropriate through the Duty to Cooperate as the plan making process progresses.

## 23. The need for affordable housing will not be met, especially where it is most needed (it will actually be redistributed away from where it is most needed, e.g. Chorley).

Affordable housing need will not be met and will be directed away from where it is needed most (e.g. Chorley). The affordability adjustment, to take account of market signals, clearly evidences that the need for affordable housing is significant within all three authorities, with the greatest affordability concerns within Chorley. This indicator demonstrates a significant need for more affordable housing to be provided in Chorley to meet the needs of the population. Gross need for affordable housing needs to be given significant weight, as do household growth projections, when determining housing distribution. Current affordable housing delivery policy in the Core Strategy also needs to be considered when assessing whether the affordable housing need will be met where it is needed.

It is important for local planning authorities to consider the implications the standard method will have on delivering affordable housing need in full. If it becomes clear that affordable housing need will not be delivered in full then an increase to the total housing figures should be considered. The affordable housing need will not be met, particularly where it is most needed. Table 4.4 applies an affordability adjustment, to take account of market signals. The table clearly evidences that the need for affordable housing is significant within all three authorities, with the greatest affordability concerns within Chorley. This indicator demonstrates a significant need for more affordable housing to be provided in Chorley to meet the needs of the population.

Para 5.41 indicates a demand for alternative types of affordable housing, but the analysis derives a contradictory conclusion that if a family can afford to rent, they can also afford cheaper housing stock (however, this might not be suitable to meet their needs).

Further, paras 5.45 to 5.49 of the MoU makes an assumption that a terraced house can equally meet the needs of a growing family. This is flawed. The evidence indicates a need to concurrently bring forward alternative avenues to home ownership such as Discount to Market or Starter Homes in order assist those moving from the PRS sector.

The gross need for affordable housing, as outlined in Table 5.9 of the report, should be given significant weight in the determination of the housing distribution. The table indicates that South Ribble has the highest need, followed by Chorley. It should be noted that both of these authorities have a gross need considerably higher than Preston. It would be a significant oversight not to factor this into the overall distribution of the housing requirement.

Another factor essential in the consideration of affordable housing need is household growth projections, as outlined in Table 3.1 of the Report. The table highlights that Chorley has the highest annual household growth projections (498) – over twice the figures projected for Preston (225) and South Ribble (178).

The affordable housing requirement, as currently outlined in Policy 7 of the Core Strategy must also be considered in the determination of the housing distribution. Applying the current planning policy requirement (30%) to the proposed housing requirements would not allow the annual affordable housing need, as set out above, to be met in either Chorley or South Ribble. This is apparent without any reference to the fact that some sites e.g. small sites will be exempt from affordable housing provision, further diminishing the number of affordable homes provided. The distribution of the housing requirement is unjustified as it will not deliver sufficient affordable housing to meet the population's needs. It also fails to take account of and address relative affordability, particularly within Chorley which has the highest affordability ratio.

## Officer response:

The Iceni report shows a net need for rented affordable housing (Table 5.6) but does not show a need for additional affordable home ownership products (Table 5.10) in quantitative terms. Assessments of affordable housing need should take into account both the gross need and supply, as the Iceni Study does. The affordable housing need however represents a need for a specific type of housing and does not have a direct influence of the overall need for housing, as Para 5.47 within the report sets out.

There is a relative similarity between the distribution of affordable housing need between the authorities and the proposed (as shown below).

|                    | Chorley | Preston | SR    | Total |
|--------------------|---------|---------|-------|-------|
| Affordable Housing | 132     | 250     | 208   | 590   |
| Need (Table 5.6)   |         |         |       |       |
|                    | 22%     | 42%     | 35%   | 100%  |
| Proposed           | 282     | 410     | 334   | 1026  |
| distribution of    |         |         |       |       |
| Standard Method    |         |         |       |       |
| LHN                |         |         |       |       |
|                    | 27.5%   | 40%     | 32.5% | 100%  |

Affordability has been one of the considerations in assessing the proposed distribution but should (and has) been considered alongside other factors. Affordability ratios are partly influenced by the existing mix of properties sold.

Through the plan-making process, the affordable housing need will be a consideration in assessing what level of overall housing provision and housing supply to plan for through the new Local Plan – consistent with the approach set out in the PPG. These are however issues for plan-making, and not for assessing the five year housing land supply where Government policy/guidance is clear that the standard method should be used.

24. Specialist housing need, such as housing for older people, will not be met.

With regards to specialist housing – such as for older people - the Housing Study does not take into account and fully consider the actual need in each authority and how this will be accommodated by the proposed housing requirement and the proposed distribution of that requirement.

Open market age restricted housing (to meet the lifetime homes standard) is not referred to in Para 7.9. Indeed, it is omitted from consideration in the report entirely. The needs of older persons will continue to go unmet.

#### Officer response:

The Iceni Study considers the needs of older persons in Section 7. The needs identified include for open market age restricted housing as shown in Tables 7.10 - 7.13 (under the housing with support leasehold category). The need for homes build to Part M4(2) accessible and adaptable standard is also considered.

#### 25. There is a need to concurrently bring forward alternative avenues to home ownership.

When establishing the housing requirement figure for Central Lancashire, there is also a need to concurrently bring forward alternative avenues to home ownership such as Discount to Market or Starter Homes.

Officer response:

These issues are considered within the Iceni Report in Section 5.

#### 26. Further evidence is needed in terms of the scale and geography of demand.

Further work is required to properly establish evidence on the scale and geography of demand. For example, so that the distribution of custom self-build homes can be agreed.

#### Officer response:

Needs for self- and custom-build development in Central Lancashire and its constituent authorities are considered in Section 9 of the Iceni Report. The evidence is considered sufficient to inform planning policies through the new Local Plan.

Theme: The MOU relies on data which is out of date; the household projections used are contrary to specific PPG guidance; it does not reconsider previous assessments of need (e.g. the 2017 SHMA) and it does not model or test alternatives.

27. <u>The evidence relies on Land registry and VOA data, which is out of date, and is</u> <u>contrary to PPG. It does not reconsider previous assessments of need (e.g. the 2017</u> <u>SHMA, which should especially be considered if it is being relied upon in terms of</u> <u>establishing the HMA), nor it does not model or test the implications of any alternative</u> <u>distributions.</u>

Table 3.2 of the Iceni report derives the housing requirement for the three authorities based upon the 2014 household projections as advised by PPG. The report then goes on to assess the calculation of the standard methodology using the 2016 household projection figures from under the heading "sensitivity testing". It states that it is prudent to do so because they are more recent official projections, before pointing out that the use of the 2016 figures for this purpose is expressly disavowed by PPG and then advising that the figure to be used for the CLA is 1026. What is therefore proposed is a deviation from the standard methodology in each of the three districts, namely:

- Chorley: a reduction from 579 to 282 – i.e. a reduction of 51% compared to the standard methodology;

- Preston: an increase from 241 to 410 – i.e. an increase of 70% compared to the standard methodology;

- South Ribble: an increase from 206 to 334 – i.e. an increase of 63% compared to the standard methodology.

The housing study calculates the minimum housing requirement for the HMA using the standard method but stops short of considering whether there is justification for a higher housing requirement. It is therefore incomplete. It does not consider the possibility of higher housing need above the standard method by testing the robustness of the **2014** based household projections.

It does not reconsider previous assessments of need (e.g. the 2017 SHMA);

It does not model and test alternative distributions/apportionment figures; or the potential negative impacts of the combined standard method figure being lower than the combined adopted Core Strategy requirement.

Nor does it consider higher growth to align with City Deal and economic-led objectives and aspirations.

Furthermore, it only tests use of **2016** based household projections notwithstanding that national guidance (PPG) *expressly* indicates that they are <u>not</u> to be used.

## Officer response:

The assessment of need is based on the Government's standard method consistent with the PPG and using the data sources set out therein. It uses the 2014-based Household Projections in calculating Central Lancashire's local housing need, as the PPG specifies. This is used to define the scale of housing need across Central Lancashire, consistent with the PPG (including Para 2a-013). The authorities have then considered how this is best distributed consistent with the approach envisaged in the PPG through the Duty to Cooperate. In doing so, the Iceni Housing Study has considered a number of alternative bases for distribution of the need.

As set out in the response to previous questions, the housing need will be kept under review as the plan making process progresses including taking account of additional evidence and public consultations on the emerging plan. This will include considering (through the plan-making process) whether justification exists for the new Local Plan to set a higher housing requirement or provide sufficient supply to enable higher housing delivery than the standard method.

The objectively assessed housing need (OAN) figures within the 2017 SHMA was based on the approach set out in the 2014 PPG which has been since amended and revised by Government and is therefore out-of-date.

Theme: The Councils should not rely on the Pear Tree Lane appeal decision. Further, the more recent Chain House Lane appeal decision does not take precedence over all other appeal decisions.

28. <u>The Councils should not rely on the Pear Tree Lane appeal decision [Appeal Ref:</u> <u>APP/D2320/W/17/3173275] at Euxton. The more recent Chain House Lane appeal decision</u> [Appeal Ref: APP/D2320/W/17/3173275] does not take precedence over all other appeal <u>decisions.</u>

In the Pear Tree Lane appeal decision [Appeal ref: APP/D2320/W/17/3173275], the Inspector confirmed it would not be unreasonable to continue using the unchanged housing requirement figure and unchanged apportionment in the adopted Core Strategy. More importantly it is a decision which pre-dated the up to date approach of the use of the standard method. The proposed draft MoU circumvents that approach by declaring that it intends to revise the housing distribution and promote a new 'policy-on' approach to calculating five year supply well in advance of that distribution being properly tested through the Local Plan review examination process.

The more recent Chain House Lane appeal decision [Appeal Ref: APP/D2320/W/17/3173275, Land at Pear Tree Lane, Euxton] does not take precedence over all other appeals.

#### Officer response:

The Pear Tree Lane appeal inspector gave weight to the fact that the authorities have a shared core strategy and proved track record of joint working; an evidence base that considered housing needs across the Central Lancashire housing market area; and an approach to the apportionment of the HMA's housing needs which had been considered and agreed by the three Central Lancashire local authorities.

The principles of the revised MOU, once it has been consulted upon and endorsed by the three authorities, have also been supported in a recent (Dec 2019) appeal decision regarding Land to the South of Chain House Lane, Whitestake, Preston. [Appeal Ref: APP/F2360/W/19/3234070, Land to the South of Chain House Lane, Whitestake]. This includes the housing need calculation using the standard method for Central Lancashire and the criteria considered in assessing the proposed distribution, which the Inspector found to not different significantly from the Core Strategy distribution.

#### Theme: Brownfield land.

#### 29. Brownfield land has not been adequately considered.

The NPPF Section 11 seeks to encourage more Brownfield reuse, and the identification of all brownfield land in the brownfield registers is important. CPRE is urging Government to invest more in our wasted Brownfield land. Preston needs much needed investments as do the existing towns of South Ribble and Chorley. It is possible that a more comprehensive search for previously used sites is necessary as regeneration should be at the heart of the Local Plan for Central Lancashire.

The Brownfield Registers appear to have overlooked some sites, or classed them as 'unsuitable', when in reality they have potential that should be unlocked by relevant stakeholders. If more brownfield land was recorded and higher density development provides more housing, the need to build on countryside, particularly that afforded Green Belt protection would be avoided.

#### Officer response:

The Iceni Study has sought to arrive at a nominal 'broad urban capacity figure' by taking the total quantum of untested SHELAA housing submissions and removing those submissions which fall wholly within the Green Belt or within open countryside. At this point in time, on the basis of the current evidence base and the SHELAA process, it is recognised that there will be opportunities for sites to be reconsidered subject to further testing/ analysis as the plan-making process progressed.

The Housing Study is clear at paragraph 4.36 that "The [SHELAA] assessment is not expected to determine which of these sites are most suitable to meet those requirements however; as this is the role of the Local Plan." The study also emphasises at paragraph 4.40 that "this figure [housing capacity] has not been subject to detailed constraints testing and the figures set out are not an indication of deliverable or developable supply. For instance, some of the sites included within the Table below are situated within the Green Belt or Flood Zone 3. There is also the possibility that there is an element of double counting in the sits submitted to the SHELAA process which have yet to be filtered out".

As the plan-making process continues to progress, the Councils will give further consideration to the suitability of brownfield and greenfield sites; setting the deliverability of these sites against the criteria clearly stated in national planning policy and guidance.

The Call for Sites 3 is requesting brownfield sites and the Councils will continue to look for brownfield sites.

The Councils are not considering a Green Belt review. The Local Plan will apply a sequential / hierarchical approach i.e. brownfield sites first. A Green Belt review would only be considered if there are not enough deliverable sites to meet the identified need.

The 3 authorities keep their Brownfield Registers up to date. Additional sites can be submitted on the Brownfield Registers – please let us know about any brownfield sites so they can be added if appropriate.

## Theme: Inaccuracies in the Iceni Report.

## 30. There are inaccuracies in the Iceni Report:

## Table 4.12

Even if the inclusion of all of the proposed variables as being relevant for informing the distribution are accepted as relevant, the average (mean) of the percentages presented in each column do not result in the recommended percentage split at the bottom of the column. It is noted that **the average of the numbers would not necessarily equate to a proportion of housing** (i.e. add to 100) the 'Land Not Subject to National Constraints' row does not total 100%. However, even when prorated the numbers still do not match the recommended split in Table 4.12. While these differences are small they show that the evidence being relied **upon is not entirely accurate**. As a side, it is noted that the population distribution row does not add to 100%.

The inclusion of 'Nominal Urban Capacity', 'Existing Spatial Strategy', and 'Land not Subject to National Constraints' as determining factors in the proportioning of the housing requirement of Central Lancashire. The urban capacity of the settlements, presence of constraints or historic planning strategies do not have a bearing on assessing the housing needs to be met in the context of a reviewed Plan. Rather, the inclusion clouds the judgement of meeting the need for housing as close as possible to where is arises in a sustainable manner. When the 3 inappropriate variables are removed the results of table 4.12 are different.

**Table 4.12 should be revised to include weighting to each indicator**. This would provide a more accurate reflection of housing distribution. Each indicator is relevant, however should be given proportionate weight according to its significance in determining the housing requirement distribution. Given the national affordable housing crisis, the greatest weight should be attributed to affordable housing provision. Significant weight should also be attributed to the local housing need prior to re-distribution and the distributions of the population and workforce. The distribution should also acknowledge the importance of the location of past completions.

## Tables 3.1 and 5.9

Two other factors are essential in the consideration of affordable housing need, namely the household growth projections, as outlined in Table 3.1 of the Report and the need for affordable housing, as outlined in Table 5.9.

The table highlights that Chorley has the highest annual household growth projections (498) – over twice the figures projected for Preston (225) and South Ribble (178). This identifies that the greatest increase in household numbers is anticipated within this authority. The gross need for affordable housing should also be given significant weight in the determination of the housing distribution. The table indicates that South Ribble has the highest need, followed by Chorley. It should be noted that both of these authorities have a gross need considerably higher than Preston. The delivery of affordable housing within these authorities is therefore vital. It would be a significant oversight not to factor this into the overall distribution of the housing requirement.

The affordable housing requirement, as currently outlined in Policy 7 of the Core Strategy must also be considered in the determination of the housing distribution. Applying the current planning policy requirement (30%) to the proposed housing requirements would not allow the annual

affordable housing need, as set out above, to be met in either Chorley or South Ribble. This is apparent without any reference to the fact that some sites e.g. small sites will be exempt from affordable housing provision, further diminishing the number of affordable homes provided. The distribution of the housing requirement is unjustified as it will not deliver sufficient affordable housing to meet the population's needs. It also fails to take account of and address relative affordability, particularly within Chorley which has the highest affordability ratio.

## Officer response:

In respect of Table 4.12, the Iceni Study is clear at paragraph 4.46 that the Table sets out "the various variables which have influenced our recommendation on the distribution of housing need". It is intended that the distribution should recognise the need to maximise urban capacity; locate homes close to jobs in order to build a strong and response economy; and respond to the extent of nationally significant constraints in Chorley and South Ribble.

This approach is reflective of the Framework's emphasis on promoting sustainable patterns of development. It is however noted that the population distribution does not add up to 100%. The split should in fact read: Chorley: 32%, Preston: 38% and South Ribble: 30%.

It should be stressed that the variables of 'Nominal Urban Capacity', 'Existing Spatial Strategy', and 'Land not Subject to National Constraints' do not influence the assessment of local housing need; but do influence the distribution of the local housing need. This is considered to be fully justified by the PPG [2a-013] which enables authorities planning on a joint basis to distribute the sum of the local housing need for each planning authority.

The variables set out in the Housing Study are considered to support sustainable patterns of development in accordance with national policy and guidance; and an appropriate basis for which to arrive at a distribution of the total local housing need figure for the joint plan area.

## MOU

18. Appendix 2 shows the revised MOU February 2020. The only difference is the date.

## **NEXT STEPS**

19. Following the JAC

- The Memorandum of Understanding and Statement of Cooperation (as shown at Appendix 2) will be taken through the relevant delegation/ Full Council approval processes for each Council;
- The approved MOU and consultation responses will be inserted on the Councils websites and Central Lancashire Local Plan website and all responders notified of the MOU approval and responses to their representations.
- To agree to update the Iceni Housing Study for finalisation as evidence; and
- The Councils to work together to monitor housing completions and five-year housing land supply positions against these requirements and present to JAC when completed.

| Report Author  | Ext          | Date         | Doc ID |
|----------------|--------------|--------------|--------|
| Alison Marland | 01257 515151 | January 2020 |        |